
                                    URBANA CITY COUNCIL 

               REGULAR SESSION MINUTES – DECEMBER 4, 2012 
The Urbana City Council Regular Session Meeting of Tuesday, December 4, 2012, was 
called to order by Council President Marty Hess at 7:00PM, in Court Chambers / The 
Municipal Building. 
Attendance – All Council Members were present with the exception of Mr. Larry Lokai 
City Staff – Mayor Bill Bean (*In at 7:35PM); Mr. Kerry Brugger, Director of 
Administration; Mr. Doug Crabill, Assistant to the Director of Administration; Mr. 
Robert Munch  (Mr. Lee Williams was absent) 
Roll Call & Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

Mr. Al Evans moved to approve the UCC Regular Session Minutes (November 27, 
2012); Mr. Dwight Paul seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Communications 
Mr. Eugene Fields moved to place the following combined Communications on file: (1) 
November 28, 2012 email response to Council from Ben Vollrath, Customer Business 
Manager/DP& L (2) City of Urbana Shade Tree Commission Minutes – Sept. & Oct. 
2012; Mr. Robert Thorpe seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Discussion – 
Mr. Doug Hoffman questioned Communication #2 (during the Approval of Minutes 
section). More discussion followed as Mr. Doug Crabill approached the podium for 
response. Mr. Evans addressed with ‘point of order’ concerning the discussion during the 
Minutes section, and requested the Clerk acknowledge Mr. Hoffman’s tree question 
under ‘Communications’. The Clerk complied, and Mr. Hoffman apologized. 
“Reading through the Minutes…I noticed that some of the trees in the Tree Lawn, it 
sounds like the City paid for…I was just curious what the rules were regarding trees in 
the Tree Lawn,” said Mr. Hoffman.  
Mr. Crabill asked, “Are you asking like if something happens to the tree, or…?”  
“Well—when I was reading through—I think there was one I think on Lincoln that 
looked like it was dying, and it talked about having it removed, and one that was removed 
on Scioto,” replied Mr. Hoffman. “It said that it was partially paid for by the resident, and 
partially by the…” 
Mr. Crabill interjected, “Correct—we are kind of between 2 different procedures—we 
had gone to a procedure to do partial reimbursements, and we’re working kind of away 
from that procedure to where we basically would remove the tree. That particular 
situation we need to take another look at, and see if we…depending on if we change the 
regulation, we probably will go ahead, and do a full reimbursement for that. Are you 
saying…like just on the removal, or…?” 
“I saw that the trees were being taken care of—I just wasn’t clear on what the ruling is,” 
said Mr. Hoffman. 
“Yeah—it’s gone back and forth over the years—this will be (what) our 11th year to be a 
‘Tree City’…getting ready to turn in the application, but it has gone back and forth over 
the years so…we’re hoping to kind of bring some clarity to that officially, but we’re kind 
of taking…we’re taking the responsibility,” stated Mr. Crabill. “There’s actually a nice 
budget to work with next year (as far as trees go) for both removal and planting.”  



Council President Hess added, “A long, long time ago we had arguments on whose 
ownership of that tree lawn of trees…because people wanted the City to take care of 
them, but when the City took care of them they got upset…and the Law Director said 
some deeds have it…that some deeds said it belonged to the property owner, and some 
say it’s all City…and I don’t think we ever really got that finalized in 25+ years we’ve 
talked about it…so…” 
Mr. Crabill stated: 
“We had an Ordinance, and we had an Administrative Regulation (added under the 
previous Administration)…and…we started taking like partial responsibility, and 
speaking…in house here in the last (since earlier this year)…it kind of changed the 
direction, but are in the process of updating the policy…basically, from that change in 
direction…it’s looks like where we’re going, but anything prior to that…would follow 
under what had been followed previously.” 
Mr. Evans said: 
“The Shade Tree Commission—we were in the process of kind of revising that 
Ordinance, and working month-to-month trying to revise it…and then the previous 
Administration laid the Administrative Regulation that kind of stopped us in our tracks, 
so to speak…so I guess if the Shade Tree Commission would prefer to have an Ordinance 
rather than…because at least the Ordinance has the authority to carry on what an 
Administrative Regulation can change from time-to-time. The Shade Tree Commission is 
working on an Ordinance (if that makes sense).” 
“Yeah—essentially we’ll update the existing Ordinance, and more than likely do away 
with the Administrative Regulation—so we have one policy to govern it, instead of two,” 
Mr. Crabill stated. 
“They did fill the vacancy from 1st Ward, didn’t they?” asked Mr. Fields. 
Mr. Crabill answered, “Yes—correct.” 
Mr. Evans eluded to another vacancy. 
Mr. Fields indicated he had submitted his name, but did not hear anything back. 
“It’s been awhile—I remember talking to you about it,” said Mr. Crabill. 
“We haven’t replaced Mr. Sell yet,” Mr. Evans said. 
“We have a full membership (I’m pretty sure)—I’ll have to look at that,” said Mr. 
Crabill. “It’s that time anyway—to do reappointments, so…” 
Administrative Reports – Board of Control 
Mr. Hoffman moved to authorize a purchase order to the Treasurer, State of Ohio in the 
amount of $7,727.64 for the license fee required to operate a public water system per 
ORC 6109.21 (Last year’s cost was $7,727.64; This will be charged to the Water Dept., 
and is in the 2012 Budget); Mr. Fields seconded. Motion carried 5 yes to 1 no (Mr. 
Thorpe) 
Mr. Robert Munch explained, “This is our annual fee to Ohio EPA to give us permission 
to make water in 2013.”   
Mr. Thorpe said, “This is for strictly pumping water into the tanks…” 
“…and treating it,” Mr. Munch repeated. 
“…and treating it, and letting it come out,” said Mr. Thorpe. 
“Yes,” said Mr. Munch. 
“…and we have qualified people that do that?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
“Yes,” said Mr. Munch. 



“…and we still made these people $7,000 to tell us we got…qualified people?” asked Mr. 
Thorpe. 
Mr. Munch replied, “In accordance with Ohio Revised Code 6109.21 water systems in 
Ohio must obtain a license to operate with the Director of Ohio Administration.” 
Mr. Munch referred to penalties as a result of lateness in fee payment. 
“Does the gentleman in Columbus have a license also?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
“Yes,” replied Mr. Munch. 
“…and have you seen it?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
“No,” Mr. Munch answered. 
“I’d like a copy of it,” said Mr. Thorpe. 
“I’ll have someone copy it,” said Mr. Munch. 
“Would you like it faxed to you personally?” asked Council President Hess. “Emailed to 
you, or…hard copy?” 
“He can do it either way he wants to do it, but I’m just tired of paying people for doing 
things…or us having to do things, and to have people sit on their butt over there! I’m 
sorry!” Mr. Thorpe stated. 
“We’ll talk after the meeting—how’s that?” asked Council President. 
“Alright,” Mr. Thorpe replied. 
“That sounds like a plan,” said Council President Hess. 
Citizen Comments 

Mr. Rick Rademacher, 375 College St., addressed Council with:  
“Merry Christmas—I’m delighted to see the city again lit up, especially the downtown 
area—I like all the lights. I know there’s a lot of effort and time, and money involved to 
do that…but I think it helps the city. I’ve talked to a lot of people—my friends here in the 
community, and other places—and they enjoy the city of Urbana being lit up!” 
He encouraged citizens to travel around the city to view the lights and decorations. 
Mr. Rademacher invited citizens to tune into radio station 98.7 to hear music that 
accompanies the decorations at his business location. 
Council President Hess concurred that Mr. Rademacher has ‘a very interesting and 
enjoyable display on No. Main St. by the railroad tracks.’ 
Ordinances and Resolutions 

Third Reading – 

RESOLUTION NO. 2376 – 
A RESOLUTION TO APPROPRIATE MONEY FOR THE SEVERAL OBJECTS AND 
PURPOSES WHICH THE CITY OF URBANA, OHIO MUST PROVIDE FOR THE 
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2013 
Mr. Fields moved to place Resolution No. 2376 on the business floor for discussion and 
passage; Mr. Dwight Paul seconded.  
Roll call vote to approve: Mrs. Smith, yes; Mr. Thorpe, yes; Mr. Hoffman, yes; Mr. 
Fields, yes; Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Paul, yes  (6-0) 
Second Reading – 
There were no Second Readings at this Meeting. 
First Reading – 

RESOLUTION NO. 2377 – 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A CASH ADVANCE FROM THE GENERAL 
FUND TO THE MAUSOLEUM TRUST FUND OF THE CITY OF URBANA, OHIO 



(Administrative Request for Passage at this Meeting/ Declaring an Emergency) 
Mr. Evans moved to suspend the rules on three readings; Mr. Fields seconded. 
Roll call vote to approve suspension : Mr. Thorpe, yes; Mr. Hoffman, yes; Mr. Fields, 
yes; Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Paul, yes; Mrs. Smith, yes  (6-0) 
Mr. Evans moved to place Resolution No. 2377 on the business floor for discussion and 
passage; Mr. Thorpe seconded.  
Roll call vote to approve: Mr. Hoffman, yes; Mr. Fields, yes; Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Paul, 
yes; Mrs. Smith, yes; Mr. Thorpe, yes  (6-0) 
Discussion – 
Mr. Kerry Brugger explained: 
“It’s due this month, so we really need to get it through the system as quickly as possible. 
If you recall there’s a annual…we refinanced The Mausoleum two or three years 
ago…the debt payment is about $49,000 a year. Last year…the General Fund…we 
appropriated $20,000 out of the General Fund just to offset what we’ve got in sales. This 
year—our sales are up a little bit—last year, they were $25,000…so far this year, we’re 
$34,000. Sales are improving a little bit, but they still are not quite at…being able to 
make the full payment, so we’re just looking for the offset difference (so depending upon 
where the actual number comes in)…you know it will be up to $15,000 to make that 
payment.” 
ORDINANCE NO. 4388 – 

INDIGENT DEFENSE AGREEMENT WITH THE CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS TO ALLOW THE CITY AND COUNTY To RECEIVE PARTIAL 
REIMBURSEMENT FROM THE OHIO PUBLIC DEFENDER COMMISSION FOR 
THE INDIGENT DEFENSE EXPENSES IN THE CHAMPAIGN COUNTY 
MUNICIPAL COURT 
(*Read and declared a First Reading) 
Discussion – 
Council President Hess asked Mr. Brugger to briefly explain this Ordinance. 
Mr. Brugger said, “This is a annual Resolution we put together for Indigent Defense 
whereby Municipal Court can submit for reimbursement from the County…then from the 
State for defense of Indigent Defense…it’s something we do every year…this time of 
year, just to get in the system for next year.” 
“On line 4—where it says, ‘The City agrees to reimburse the County for that portion of 
costs not reimbursed by the State…’—is that just standard?” asked Mr. Fields. 
“That’s standard,” replied Mr. Brugger. “Whatever we don’t get reimbursed we just have 
to…work in the system.” 
“Okay—thank you,” said Mr. Fields. 
Miscellaneous Business 

Mr. Fields         - Noted the Street Dept. is ‘going around and picking up the last of the 
                            leaves’; Commented, “They’re doing a good job!” 
                            Mr. Brugger added, “They are finished—unless there’s something out  
                            there that we’re not aware of—but all the leaves have been picked up, 
                            and the trucks are being converted (to snow plows, salts, spreaders)… 
                            the leaf season is officially over!” 
Mr. Evans         - “What about The Compost Facility?” asked Mr. Evans. 
                            Mr. Brugger answered, “The Compost Facility is also closed—as we  



                             have special needs, I’m sure we can make arrangements if there’s… 
                             obviously a storm or something that pops up…but it is not staffed 
                             any longer, and I don’t know that the gates are even open at this 
                             point (but we can verify that).” 
                             Mr. Evans said, “I guess I was thinking of someone who may have 
                             not gotten all the leaves raked up—is there a way for them to get 
                             those out there?” 
                             “I’m sure we can arrange something, but try to give plenty of notice… 
                             there’s no longer any staffing there, so…” said Mr. Brugger. 
Mr. Paul            -  “Are we having our meeting next week on the water issue?” asked 
                             Mr. Paul. 
                             “No—we are not having our Public Hearing next week—I’ll give a 
                             little more detail here in a little bit,” said Mr. Brugger. 
                             “Again—I agree—that the clean up guys did a great job! The streets 
                             are looking good!” Mr. Paul stated. “Up town looks really good, and 
                             Mr. Rademacher—I agree completely! It looks very festive—I think 
                             Santa’s here already, so…I think the holiday season is here full swing!” 
Mrs. Smith         - Commented that the downtown does ‘look good,’ but also said she  
                             agrees with Mr. Brugger regarding the need for some new lights 
                             “It looks kind of dark, but I’m sure we’ll get by this year,” she said. 
                             Noted the ‘Welcome to Urbana’ sign on Miami St. looks great except 
                             for the other side of it (west) there is a huge bush covering it up 
Mr. Thorpe        -  Said, “Mr. Brugger—if anyone would want to go out to The Compost 
                             Facility, and it’s too much bother here…have them call me (#206- 
                             1555)…I could take them out there, and help them out.” 
Mr. Hoffman     -  Said, “I noticed some of the parking signs have changed a little bit—is  
                              that temporary downtown? It looked like there was some hanging in  
                              front of the old ones…” 
                              Mr. Brugger replied, “We’re in the process of working through some, 
                              and having discussions with downtown businesses…obviously the 
                              parking situation (and in particular, the downtown) has been a sore  
                              subject for a number of years. What’s being tried right now (especially 
                              now with the Christmas season) is unlimited free parking in the down- 
                              town area. There were some temporary stickers/signs placed over the  
                              old (original) signs for the season—I don’t think they’re weathering  
                              well—so there’s more activity scheduled beyond that for long term. 
                              For short term--there is free parking downtown for the Christmas sea- 
                              son—there will be more information as we move through the process.” 
                              “It feels friendlier,” stated Mr. Hoffman. 
                              “We’re trying to make it friendlier,” Mr. Brugger replied. 
Mr. Crabill          - “This is not my project—this is actually Tyler’s work—but we are  
                              working (Tyler’s been working) on potentially retrofitting the lights in 
                              the downtown to LED lighting…the efficiency of LED is proving it- 
                              self. We’ve kind of been tossing it around for a couple years, and have 
                              been looking at doing some LED lighting…but the cost has been pro- 
                              hibitive,” stated Mr. Crabill. “Tyler’s done quite a bit of research, and 



                               has found a retrofit for that—we have what’s called a ‘Hall of Fame 
                               Grandville Light’ in the downtown, and he’s found a retrofit that  
                               we’re looking at maybe doing an LED change out (sometime next  
                               year—potentially). There’s actually a demo installed right now in 
                               front of…it’s in the NW corner of The Square, in front of the City  
                               Echoes Video Store and Wright’s Bikes.” 
                               He encouraged Council to view the demo light after this meeting; 
                               Projected something will be brought back to Council next year on 
                               this topic 
                               Noted a $50. rebate per light back (expenditure of about $300. per 
                               fixture); Staff can do this in-house to actually perform the retrofit 
                               “It would be about a $2,500 per year savings—so about a 5 or 6 
                               year payback on an investment of about $15,500/$15,600.,” said 
                               Mr. Crabill. “With the DP&L rebate period, we would do it sometime 
                               next year.” 
Mr. Robert Munch – 
                               Nothing at this time 
Mr. Brugger        -  Said, “Even the City is not immune to water shut off—we are going  
                               to be shutting off our water main here this coming weekend.” 
                               He explained about a puddle coming up out of the asphalt (a couple 
                               weeks ago, after the Public Hearing); A temporary fix was done, but  
                               a whole new main has to be done back into the building (Sunday) 
                               There will be a boil advisory announced 
 
                               Provided an update regarding the 4th Ward Water; Noted Mr. Mac 
                               McCauley has met with various persons to gain more insight on the 
                               problems, and has viewed some of the areas 
                               “With that—he’s going to be backed up a little bit trying to pull all 
                               this together, so the original plan for next Tuesday to have a Public 
                               Hearing will not be…able to make that,” said Mr. Brugger. “Obvious- 
                               ly (with the holidays coming) it’s probably going to be early next year 
                               before we get this thing pulled together. We should have a full sum- 
                               mary back right after the holidays.” 
Council President Hess – 
                               Said, “As you all know (or don’t know) the President of Council is  
                               automatically on the BZA—and we’ve had some requests that we’ve 
                               had to grant quite a few variances lately…because the Ordinances  
                               needed updated…most of it was on signage. A lot of businesses in  
                               town fall under The Overlay District, The Heritage District, The  
                               Downtown District…and it’s hard for them to update their signs to 
                               keep their business(es) a viable business. Being a small businessman,           
                               I know how hard it is to make it…and everything it costs you to do,  
                               you should be able to make some return on that. 
                               We have a business in town that absorbed another business (3 years 
                               ago), and still has not been able to put a sign up to advertise the fact 
                               that they’ve got this business! Trenor Motors took over the Buick 



                                dealership 3 years ago, and has been trying to get a sign…so people 
                                know that he now has a Buick car dealership…and with the Sign  
                                Ordinance we have right now, he has not been able to get that done… 
                                and he needs to get it done! I mean, it’s a small business can hire ap- 
                                proximately 30 people…it’s on the edge of town…he’s coming in… 
                                he wants to make his place with us as soon as possible! He can’t do 
                                it, because the current Sign Ordinance says, ‘No!’ 
                                It’s time for Council to look at the Sign Ordinance—the Planning 
                                Commission was supposed to have done it—this has been 3 years, 
                                and it hasn’t happened! Council can make it happen a bit quicker, 
                                I think. You guys need to get it together and decide if you want this   
                                to happen…because…(like I said) signage is important to small busi- 
                                nesses. Almost every meeting the BZA has…we have to grant a 
                                variance (or conditional use) for a sign to go up, so a business can get 
                                their signs up…so they can get the business. 
                                I would appreciate it—and the small businesses (and the larger busi- 
                                nesses) in Urbana would appreciate it if something could be done… 
                                and it needs to be done soon! 
“Mr. Hess…” Mr. Brugger interjected. 
“I’m not saying anything bad about the Administration,” said Council President Hess. 
Mr. Brugger stated, “I’d just like to let you know there is a new Ordinance coming up for 
a reading—it should be going to the Planning Commission on the 17th of December. I 
don’t know if that’s fast enough for you…but we’ve got a draft coming.” 
“Let me ask you this—why is it going to the Planning Commission rather than Council?” 
asked Council President Hess. “Council has to pass it.” 
“It has to be—we’ve got to review it, to make sure the wording’s is where we want it—
then obviously it can’t go into effect until you act on it,” Mr. Brugger replied.  
Council President Hess (to Council) said, “If you want to come to a BZA meeting, and 
listen to all this go on—every time we have a meeting, somebody comes to get a sign 
changed. It needs to be done.” 
Council President Hess advised Council to go through the Ordinance Book over 
Christmas break, to review the Ordinances that need to be updated. 
“There’s a lot of Ordinances in there that need to be updated—A lot!” he said. 
“We’re trying to get it on the Agenda for the 17th—that’s the target,” said Mr. Brugger. 
“We need them updated—we need to be more business friendly—we’ve had a bad 
reputation for 50+ years,” stated Council President Hess. “It’s time for that to end.” 
“Mr. President—if the BZA does not approve it, and it does not get to Council…” Mr. 
Thorpe began. 
“You’re always going to have variances—to say you’re not is…everywhere there’s 
variances,” said Mr. Crabill. 
Mr. Brugger stated: 
“If I could just give a little prelude…the discussion that’s been going on for the Sign 
Ordinance (and I know it’s been lingering for awhile)…Brad (Bodenmiller) has been 
working on this…he’s actually gone through and rewritten the entire Ordinance, so I give 
him a lot of credit…taking that document, and all the legal jargon…he’s taken that entire 
document, and rewritten it…and what he’s used is, he’s taken a lot of the 



information…the circumstances that he has to deal with on a daily basis, and is trying to 
build the Ordinance around the real life situations that he encounters on a day-to-day 
basis.” 
Mr. Brugger also encouraged Council to attend Planning Commission meetings, to listen 
to some of the discussion. 
“The key thing is—it’s been long overdue, and I give Brad a lot of credit,” Mr. Brugger 
added. “He’s taken a lot of time, and just taken this thing…and broken it down to rebuild 
it…he’s done an excellent job of putting it back together. It’s not going to be perfect, but  
it’s sure going to be a lot better than what it is right now.” 
(Mayor Bill Bean entered the meeting at this point – 7:35PM) 
Council President Hess invited input from Mayor Bean, after welcoming him. 
Mayor Bean said, “It was a good parade out at the McCauley Center—Mr. Lokai’s 
there—and I come zooming back, but it was an absolutely wonderful affair (over at the 
McCauley Center). There was over 60 entries in the parade, and well attended…and I just 
can’t say enough how impressed I was with how McCauley handled this…it was just a 
wonderful affair!” 
He also talked about the downtown free parking, and encouraged everyone to come 
downtown to do their holiday shopping. 
Mr. Thorpe questioned the period of time allowed for free parking, “December 1 to 
January 1?” 
“Until we deem not, so…right now it’s free parking,” Mayor Bean replied. 
 
Mr. Paul moved to excuse Mr. Lokai from this meeting; Mr. Fields seconded. All were in 
favor of excusing Mr. Lokai. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

Mr. Thorpe moved to adjourn the UCC Regular Session at 7:38PM; Mr. Fields seconded. 
All were in favor of adjournment. 
 
 
__________________________________________                ___________________________________________ 

Council Clerk                                                                            Council President 

 

December 4, 2012 Minutes.doc                             Urbana City Council                                                Page 8 of 8  
                      
  
     


